
           

SUSTAINABILITY COMMITTEE 

**REVISED DATE** September 29, 2020
**REVISED TIME** 3:00 P.M.

To slow the spread of COVID-19, the Health Officer’s
Shelter Order of April 29, 2020, prevents public gatherings

(Health Officer Order). In lieu of a public gathering, the
Sutainability Committee Meeting will be available via

remote access per Governor’s Executive Order N29-20. 

Supervisor Federal D. Glover, Chair
Supervisor John Gioia, Vice Chair

Agenda Items &
Information

Items may be taken out of order based on the business of
the day and preference of the Committee
You are invited to a Zoom webinar.

September 29, 2020, 3:00 PM Pacific Time (US and Canada)
Topic: Sustainability Committee - 9/29/20

Please click the link below to join the webinar:
https://cccounty-us.zoom.us/j/91527837730

Meeting ID: 915 2783 7730 
Or Telephone:

Dial:
USA 214 765 0478 US Toll

USA 888 278 0254 US Toll-free
Conference code: 198675

             

1. Introductions
 

2. Public comment on any item under the jurisdiction of the Committee and not on this
agenda (speakers may be limited to three minutes).

 

3.   APPROVE Record of Action from the July 27, 2020, meeting of the Sustainability
Committee. (Jody London, DCD)

 

4.   RECEIVE update and PROVIDE DIRECTION on draft environmental justice goals,
policies, and actions for the updated County General Plan. (Will Nelson) 

 

5.   RECEIVE REPORT from Sustainability Commission Chair. (Howdy Goudey, Chair,
or designate) 

 

6.   RECEIVE REPORT from Sustainability Coordinator. (Jody London, DCD)
 

7. The next meeting is currently scheduled for November 23, 2020.
 

https://813dcad3-2b07-4f3f-a25e-23c48c566922.filesusr.com/ugd/84606e_77d38bfadf3941b7aae2cc82e4871c69.pdf
https://gcc01.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fcccounty-us.zoom.us%2Fj%2F91527837730&data=02%7C01%7CAnna.Battagello%40dcd.cccounty.us%7Cbed1d8590f934623611c08d854d8f84d%7C76c13a07612f4e06a2f4783d69dc4cdb%7C0%7C0%7C637352638164715881&sdata=XFGpwKOne9Xhlj3qxHRHck5UHzamyaq%2B61Ndja3aE%2Fw%3D&reserved=0


 

8. Adjourn
 

The Sustainability Committee will provide reasonable accommodations for persons with
disabilities planning to attend Sustainability Committee meetings. Contact the staff person listed
below at least 72 hours before the meeting. 

Any disclosable public records related to an open session item on a regular meeting agenda and
distributed by the County to a majority of members of the Sustainability Committee less than 96
hours prior to that meeting are available for public inspection at 651 Pine Street, 1st floor, during
normal business hours. 

Public comment may be submitted via electronic mail on agenda items at least one full work day
prior to the published meeting time. 

For Additional Information Contact:
Jody London, Sustainability Coordinator

Phone: (925) 674-7871
Jody.London@dcd.cccounty.us



SUSTAINABILITY COMMITTEE
Meeting Date: 09/29/2020  

Subject: APPROVE Record of Action from the July 27, 2020, meeting of the
Sustainability Committee.

Submitted For: TRANSPORTATION, WATER & INFRASTRUCTURE COMMITTEE, 
Department: Conservation & Development
Referral No.: N/A  

Referral Name: N/A 
Presenter: Jody London, Sustainability

Coordinator
Contact: Jody London (925)674-7871

Referral History:
County Ordinance (Better Government Ordinance 95-6, Article 25-205 [d]) requires that each
County body keep a record of its meetings. Though the record need not be verbatim, it must
accurately reflect the agenda and the decisions made in the meeting.

Referral Update:
Any handouts or printed copies of testimony distributed at the meeting will be attached to this
meeting record. Links to the agenda and minutes will be made available at the Committee web
page, http://www.contracosta.ca.gov/7029/Sustainability-Committee.

Recommendation(s)/Next Step(s):
Staff recommends approval of the attached Record of Action for the July 27, 2020, meeting of
the Sustainability Committee.

Fiscal Impact (if any):
N/A

Attachments
07-27-20 Sustainability Mtg Minutes

http://www.contracosta.ca.gov/7029/Sustainability-Committee


SUSTAINABILITY COMMITTEE
  RECORD OF ACTION FOR

July 27, 2020
 

Supervisor Federal D. Glover, Chair
Supervisor John Gioia, Vice Chair  

 

Present:  Federal D. Glover, Chair   
   John Gioia, Vice Chair   

 

               

1. Introductions
 

2. Public comment on any item under the jurisdiction of the Committee and not on
this agenda (speakers may be limited to three minutes).

 
  Mike Moore brought forward a new report from Communities for A Better Environment published on

July 6, 2020 titled “Decommissioning California Refineries”. The report includes a plan to offset
economic and societal impacts resulting from fossil fuel phase out. He suggested that the report should
be reviewed by the Committee.

 

3. Staff recommends approval of the attached Record of Action for the May 29,
2020, meeting of the Sustainability Committee.

  

 
  Record of action from the May 29, 2020, meeting of the Sustainability Committee was approved.
 

 
AYE:  Chair Federal D. Glover 
  Vice Chair John Gioia 

4. RECOMMEND ADOPTION of Climate Emergency Resolution, with any
modifications the Committee might direct.

  

 
  Jody London, Sustainability Coordinator, provided a report on the history of the resolution. A current

version of the climate emergency resolution is included as an attachment in the current meeting agenda,
including a redline version that includes changes directed by the Committee at the May 29, 2020
Sustainability Committee meeting. 

The Sustainability Commission voted unanimously to include the following recommendations in the
Climate Emergency Resolution: 

Adopt more aggressive greenhouse gas (GHG) reduction targets than those adopted by the State,
with a goal of zero emissions by 2035

1.

Develop a building electrification reach code that includes all building types, not only residential.2.
Adopt specifications for low-carbon building materials in all construction in the unincorporated3.



Adopt specifications for low-carbon building materials in all construction in the unincorporated
County and in County facilities.

3.

Promote agricultural preservation with emphasis on lowering agricultural carbon emissions and
helping to realize increased agricultural productivity and revenue streams associated with
regenerative carbon sequestration in soil

4.

Establish a bi-annual report from the County Interdepartmental Task Force to the Board of
Supervisors. 

5.

Require reporting from staff on issues in the Climate Emergency Resolution directly to the Board
of Supervisors. 

6.

Encourage Contra Costa employers and businesses to incentivize remote work. 7.
Provide direction for additional infrastructure for alternative modes of transportation including
bicycling, walking, and public transportation. 

8.

The Just Transition task force will be initiated by the Sustainability Commission, with the
understanding that it is envisioned to grow beyond the Commission’s scope of work.

9.

Written comments support frequent reporting regarding the climate emergency resolution’s process as
well as the adoption of more aggressive greenhouse gas reduction targets. The Sustainability Coordinator
will attach all written comments in the meeting minutes for the current meeting. 

During public comment for this item, members of the public expressed their strong support in favor of
the recommendations made by the Sustainability Commission. Members of the public commented on the
linkage between the Climate Action Plan (CAP) and the Climate Emergency Resolution, and suggested
that the CAP and the climate emergency resolution should be separate from each other. Public members
also suggested that the bi-annual report from the County Interdepartmental Task Force to the Board of
Supervisors be in the form of an in-person report. 

Members of the public expressed strong approval and appreciation for the climate emergency resolution
and urged the County to approve it. Public members said that the County should be showing leadership
in the reduction of greenhouse gas emissions beyond the State’s goals. Public members also expressed
concern over the lack of environmental justice and equity measures in the climate emergency resolution.
They suggested that the environmental stressors present in the communities of color and low-income
communities should be prioritized. Members of the public suggested that the County Interdepartmental
Task Force and the Just Transition Task Force should consider the County’s refinery decommissioning
process. 

A public member recommended that a progress report on the climate emergency resolution’s progress
should be included to be shared within 90 days before the end of the calendar year. Public comment
section was closed. 

Supervisor Gioia commented on the recommendations provided by the Sustainability Commission to the
climate emergency resolution. He said that the resolution is not meant to delineate every action that the
County will take and that the County’s Climate Action Plan is being updated with an extensive
community process and will include more detail on climate action strategies to be implemented by the
County. Supervisor Gioia commented that the California Air Resources Board has taken far-reaching
actions to achieve California's GHG reduction goals, using the example of goals for buses, trucks, and
other heavy-duty vehicles. He observed that public transit agencies have not always been supportive of
these goals. He said that setting a goal in the County’s climate emergency resolution for carbon neutral
by 2035 directly conflicted with this and was not realistic. Supervisor Gioia emphasized that the State’s
goals continue to be the most ambitious in the country. 

The Committee agreed with the recommendation to expand the building electrification reach code to all
new construction, including residential and commercial buildings. The Committee recommended adding
in language that encourage the County to advocate for building electrification in the statewide building
code. 

Supervisor Gioia commented on the recommendation regarding the bi-annual reporting to the Board of



Supervisor Gioia commented on the recommendation regarding the bi-annual reporting to the Board of
Supervisors. He explained that if a report goes directly to the Board without the Sustainability
Committee, the report does not get enough attention. He recommended that reporting should continue to
be transmitted from the Sustainability Commission to the Sustainability Committee, and then from the
Sustainability Committee to the Board of Supervisors.. The Committee agreed that these bi-annual
reports should be transmitted as a full presentation to the Board, not on the consent agenda.

The Committee observed that there will be more discussion on how to move forward with the Just
Transition planning work after Board of Supervisors approves the climate emergency resolution.
Supervisor Gioia encouraged public members to attend the Board of Supervisor’s meeting and transit
agency board meetings to use collective power to continue advocating for meaningful climate action. 

The Committee recommended the following for inclusion in the Climate Emergency Resolution: 
Add language that directs the Board of Supervisors and the Sustainability Commission to seek
input from the  community (with a special focus on highly impacted
Environmental Justice communities), workers (especially impacted workers),
and business/industry to help plan for a just transition away from an economy based on
fossil fuels;
Use the State’s GHG emission reduction targets in the climate emergency resolution, including the
County’s commitment to the Governor’s Executive Order B-30-15 (80% GHG reductions below
1990 levels by 2050).
Expand the building electrification reach code to include all new construction, both residential and
commercial buildings.
The Interdepartmental task force will continue to report from the Sustainability Commission to
Sustainability Committee, and Sustainability Committee to the Board of Supervisors, not as an
item under consent but as a full presentation to the Board.
Be mindful of strategies from regional agencies such as BAAQMD, MTC and other agencies for
employer incentives being taken to incentivize behavioral change for remote work.

 

 
AYE:  Chair Federal D. Glover 
  Vice Chair John Gioia 

5. RECEIVE report from Sustainability Commission Chair.   

 
  Howdy, Goudey, Sustainability Commission Chair, reported on the activities from the Sustainability

Commission. He gave an update on the results from the elections for Commission members, which took
place during their last meeting. Howdy Goudey will continue to serve as Chair to the Commission and
Wes Sullens will serve as Vice Chair. Chair Goudey  noted that the Sustainability Commission voted
unanimously to send a letter to the Board recommending a moratorium on oil and gas drilling, and a
prohibition on oil and gas drilling in the conservation element of the updated General Plan.

 

6. RECEIVE REPORT from County Sustainability Coordinator.   

 
  Jody London provided a report to the Committee on County activities. She mentioned that the next

Sustainability Commission meeting scheduled for August 24, 2020, at 5 p.m. will be focused on the draft
environmental justice policies for the County’s General Plan. She noted that she is working on a grant
proposal to the California Department of Conservation for funds to develop a carbon sequestration
feasibility study for the County. 

 

7. The next meeting is currently scheduled for September 28, 2020.
 



8. Adjourn
 

  
For Additional Information Contact: 

Jody London, Sustainability Coordinatorf
Phone (925) 674-7871

Jody.London@dcd.cccounty.us



SUSTAINABILITY COMMITTEE
Meeting Date: 09/29/2020  

Subject: RECEIVE update and PROVIDE DIRECTION on draft environmental justice
policies for County General Plan. 

Submitted For: Jody London, Sustainability Coordinator 
Department: Conservation & Development
Referral No.: N/A  

Referral Name: N/A 
Presenter: Will Nelson, Current Planning Contact: Will Nelson (925) 674-7791

Referral History:
Since 2018, the Department of Conservation and Development (DCD) has been working on
Envision Contra Costa 2040 (ECC2040), the update to the County General Plan, Zoning Code,
and Climate Action Plan (CAP). A requirement related to the General Plan update is compliance
with SB 1000, the Planning for Healthy Communities Act, passed in 2016. SB 1000 requires the
County General Plan to address environmental justice in disadvantaged communities (DACs) in
the unincorporated area of the county (i.e., North Richmond, Montalvin Manor/Tara
Hills/Bayview, Rodeo, Crockett, Mountain View/Vine Hill, and Bay Point).

Referral Update:
DCD and PlaceWorks (the County’s consultant for ECC2040) staff have created a draft set of
environmental justice goals, policies, and actions (collectively “the draft EJ policies”) for the
updated General Plan. The draft EJ policies were developed from numerous sources, but the most
important input was received from residents and advocates at the 19 ECC2040 community
meetings held in DACs; 2 countywide collaborations on environmental justice, community health,
and sustainability; 4 CAP workshops; and Sustainability Commission meeting of August 24.

Staff requests the Sustainability Committee’s feedback and direction on the draft EJ policies
contained in the attached memorandum from PlaceWorks dated September 23, 2020. In
particular, staff seeks the Committee’s direction on the following topics:

Goal EJ-G Equitable Public Facilities and Services 
Prioritize investments and expenditures in disadvantaged communities. (Policy G.1)
Review needs and services in each DAC as part of the annual budgeting process.
(Action G.1)

SB 1000 requires priority investment in DACs, which theoretically should accelerate infrastructure projects
(both built and green infrastructure) and service improvements in these areas. Should this be institutionalized
by integration into the County’s annual budget development process as indicated by Action G.1, or through
another mechanism?



Goal EJ-A Equitable Social and Economic Advantages 
Allow impacts to DACs in exchange for community benefits. (Policies A.2 and A.3,
Action A.2)
Phase out fossil fuel industries. (Policy A.4, Action A.1)

A fundamental unresolved question is whether the County should permit projects that result in additional
environmental impacts in DACs if said projects also include community benefits? For example, should a
distribution center be permitted if it will further degrade air quality, but also employ local residents?
Another fundamental question relates to the phase out of fossil fuel industries. What does phase out mean
from a General Plan perspective, and how active or passive is the County’s role?

Goal EJ-D Equitable Jobs and Economic Stability 
First-source hiring program. (Action D.1)
Support job training and recruitment. (Action D.2)

What will be the County’s level of involvement in programs related to local hiring, job training, and just
transition?

EJ-A Public Bank 
Feasibility of creating, participating in, or attracting a public bank. (Action A.5)

Should the County explore some level of involvement in a public bank as a means of injecting capital into
DACs?

EJ-C Safe and Sanitary Homes 
No net loss of affordable housing. (Policy C.1)
Rent control and just cause for eviction ordinance. (Action C.1)

Senate Bill 330 currently includes a no net loss provision related to affordable housing, and a requirement
that new developments replace affordable units 1:1, but these provisions are scheduled to sunset in 2025.
Should such provisions be made permanent in the County General Plan? Also, should the County adopt rent
control and just cause for eviction ordinances?

Staff will revise the draft EJ policies based on the Sustainability Committee’s feedback and
direction. Staff notes that there is significant overlap and interaction between certain draft EJ
policies and the goals and strategies outlined in the draft CAP. Both documents will be further
refined as the ECC2040 process continues.

Recommendation(s)/Next Step(s):
RECEIVE update and PROVIDE DIRECTION on draft environmental justice goals, policies, and
actions for the updated County General Plan.

Fiscal Impact (if any):
N/A

Attachments
Draft Environmental Justice Policies for General Plan Update
Presentation re Draft Environmental Justice Policies for General Plan Update



 

September 23, 2020 | Page 1 

MEMORANDUM  

DATE  September 23, 2020 

TO  Contra Costa County staff and Sustainability Committee  

FROM  PlaceWorks 

SUB JEC T  Review of Discussion Draft Goals, Policies, and Actions on Environmental Justice for the General 
Plan 

Thank you for reviewing this discussion draft of goals, policies, and actions to support environmental 

justice in Contra Costa County. Environmental justice is a new legal requirement for the General Plan, but 

more importantly it is also one of the topics of greatest concern to County residents. This topic is complex 

and far-reaching, and the policies and actions we craft will have a direct effect on the lives and health of 

many people. This draft is just the beginning of the conversation. Your additional ideas and input are 

crucial to improving and strengthening the General Plan.  

Throughout California, low-income communities and communities of color have experienced a 

combination of historic discrimination, negligence, and political and economic disempowerment, with the 

result that today, they are struggling with both a disproportionate burden of pollution and health impacts, 

as well as disproportionate social and economic disadvantages such as poverty or housing instability. SB 

1000 was enacted to respond to this inequity by both alleviating pollution and health impacts and 

compelling cities and counties to include the voices of previously marginalized residents in long-range 

planning decisions.   

Legislation Summary 

SB 1000, the Planning for Healthy Communities Act, passed in 2016, requires that General Plans address 

environmental justice in disadvantaged communities within the area covered by the General Plan.   

“Environmental justice” is defined in California law as the fair treatment of people of all races, cultures, 

and incomes with respect to the development, adoption, implementation, and enforcement of 

environmental laws, regulations, and policies. “Environmental justice” includes, but is not limited to, all of 

the following: 

(A) The availability of a healthy environment for all people. 

(B) The deterrence, reduction, and elimination of pollution burdens for populations and 

communities experiencing the adverse effects of that pollution, so that the effects of the 

pollution are not disproportionately borne by those populations and communities. 



 

September 23, 2020 | Page 2 

(C) Governmental entities engaging and providing technical assistance to populations and 

communities most impacted by pollution to promote their meaningful participation in all 

phases of the environmental and land use decision making process. 

(D) At a minimum, the meaningful consideration of recommendations from populations and 

communities most impacted by pollution into environmental and land use decisions.1 

“Disadvantaged communities” are defined as low-income areas that are disproportionately affected by 

environmental pollution and other hazards that can lead to negative health effects, exposure, or 

environmental degradation. The attached draft policy guidance uses the term “disadvantaged 

community” based on this State law definition. However, the term is not supported by everyone, and we 

will work with County staff to consider alternative terminology, such as environmental justice 

communities, communities of concern, or frontline communities. 

Environmental justice goals, policies, and objectives must do the following: 

◼ Reduce the unique or compounded health risks in disadvantaged communities by reducing pollution 
exposure and promoting public improvements, public services, community amenities, food access, 
safe and sanitary homes, and physical activity. 

◼ Promote civil engagement in the public decision-making process. 

◼ Prioritize improvements and programs that address the needs of disadvantaged communities. 

SB 1000 defines DACs per Health and Safety Code Section 39711, specifying CalEnviroScreen as the 

primary screening method for identifying DACs. Interactive CalEnviroScreen mapping is available online at 

https://oehha.ca.gov/calenviroscreen/report/calenviroscreen-30. CalEnviroScreen quantifies a range of 

factors related to the combination of pollution burden and population characteristics (such as poverty, 

educational attainment, or age) and arrives at a score for every Census tract. In general, the higher the 

score, the more impacted a community is. Census tracts in the highest quartile of scores (75 to 100) are 

considered to be disadvantaged communities under SB1000.2 In Contra Costa County, the following 

communities are identified by CalEnviroScreen as disadvantaged communities:  

◼ North Richmond 

◼ Montalvin Manor, Tara Hills, and Bayview 

◼ Rodeo 

 

1 California Government Code 65040.12.  

2 Note that this does not refer to the same methodology used to identify “disadvantaged unincorporated communities” 

under SB 244. Both use median income as one criterion, but SB 244 is focused on safe and adequate infrastructure while SB 1000 

is focused on disproportionate impacts of environmental pollution. 

about:blank
about:blank#:~:text=65040.12.,do%20all%20of%20the%20following%3A&text=(F)%20Any%20other%20appropriate%20state,private%20sectors%20in%20this%20state.


 

September 23, 2020 | Page 3 

◼ Crockett 

◼ Vine Hill/Mountain View 

◼ Bay Point 

Sources for the Draft Goals, Policies, and Actions 

PlaceWorks consulted a number of sources to compile the draft goals, policies, and actions, including, but 

not limited to, the following:  

◼ Most importantly, input from the many residents and community advocates who have attended 20+ 
meetings in disadvantaged communities, countywide meetings, and Sustainability Commission 
meetings so far.  

◼ Environmental Justice Assessment Tool developed by the Contra Costa County Sustainability 
Commission  

◼ General Plan Guidelines prepared by the Governor’s Office of Planning and Research. 

◼ The SB1000 Toolkit prepared by the California Environmental Justice Alliance and PlaceWorks.  

◼ Draft and adopted elements from other communities in California.  

◼ Comment letters from the Attorney General’s office on the environmental justice components of 
other County General Plans currently underway.  

◼ Policy Suggestions from Environmental Advocates submitted to the County by a consortium of local 
and regional organizations.  

◼ AB 617 Community Emission Reduction Plans (CERPs) 

Recommendations 

Under SB 1000, the General Plan Update process must address specific topics in the new/updated goals, 

policies, and objectives, including the following: 

◼ Pollution exposure and air quality. Existing policies could be expanded to target disadvantaged 
communities, the specific pollutants of concern in those communities, and mitigation approaches for 
new development that could place sensitive receptors in areas with exposure to pollutants. 

◼ Public facilities. The new environmental justice components of the General Plan should ensure that 
disadvantaged communities have adequate access to public facilities and services, in part by 
promoting public improvements in those communities.  

◼ Food access. The County should include policies to promote projects that would improve access to 
affordable and nutritious food in disadvantaged communities. 

about:blank
about:blank
about:blank
about:blank


 

September 23, 2020 | Page 4 

◼ Safe and sanitary homes. The Housing Element works to ensure access to housing, including 
affordable housing, and includes policies that promote safe and sanitary homes. These policies could 
be expanded in the General Plan or a future Housing Element update to address the following: 

• Ensuring that affordable housing projects meet health and safety requirements that are consistent with 
market-rate housing. 

• Expanding efforts to repair and rehabilitate substandard housing in disadvantaged communities. 

• Remediating lead-based paint, mold, mildew, asbestos, and other contaminants. 

• Enforcing public health-related codes in disadvantaged communities.  

◼ Physical activity. The County could expand existing policies in the Open Space Element to target an 
equitable distribution of physical activity opportunities (i.e., access to parks and open space). This 
effort could build on projects identified in the County’s Capital Road Improvement Program in 
addition to specific mobility plans that focus on creating safer and more comfortable streetscapes for 
pedestrians and bicyclists in disadvantaged communities. 

◼ Civic engagement. The County should include new and expanded policies that promote public 
participation in its planning processes, and which specifically target disadvantaged communities, 
including through: 

• Using culturally appropriate approaches, language, and context. 

• Considering the convenience of meeting times/locations for community members. 

• Using social media and other communication techniques for those without time to attend public 
meetings. 

• Providing translation services and childcare when needed. 

• Exploring new pop-up or community-based outreach methods. 

• Leveraging existing events and meetings to meet people where they already are.  

◼ Prioritization of improvements and programs that address the needs of disadvantaged communities. 
Policies to prioritize improvements and programs that serve disadvantaged communities should 
address the following: 

• Whether improvements/programs meet an important community need. Under-served 
communities have needs and priorities that may be distinct from those of the public at large. The 
equity of projects and investments should be assessed based on whether and how well they 
address these priority needs. 

• Whether benefits to the local community are significant.  

• Whether low-income residents are the primary beneficiaries.  

• Whether improvements/programs avoid substantial burdens, like increasing toxic exposures, 
causing a net loss of affordable housing, or displacing residents or local businesses. 



 

September 23, 2020 | Page 5 

Related Topics 

Although SB 1000 lists specific topics that must be addressed, the concept of environmental justice can be 

implemented in many different ways; new policies and programs that improve sustainability, protect 

community health, and support high-quality jobs (for example) will also advance environmental justice in 

the county. A successful approach to environmental justice will be ambitious, broad, and holistic.  

Therefore, the draft policies below are not intended to be the only “environmental justice” policies in the 

General Plan, but these are a first pass at policies and actions to most directly and specifically respond to 

the legislative requirements for this topic.  

In addition to those policy topics explicitly required by SB 1000, related and supportive policies will 

address: 

◼ Climate resilience in disadvantaged communities.  

◼ Mixed use development that provides services and jobs near housing.  

◼ Preventing displacement and gentrification when disadvantaged neighborhoods are improved and 
enhanced.  

◼ Providing a range of housing types for households at a range of income levels, including “missing 
middle” housing types.  

◼ Multimodal transportation that serves residents who don’t drive and offers opportunities for safe 
physical activity.  

◼ Public safety and security, including crime prevention through environmental design (CPTED). 

◼ Green building requirements that reduce indoor air pollution and improve health outcomes.  

◼ Emergency and community services that are responsive to the needs of residents and businesses in 
disadvantaged communities. 

We expect more topics to emerge and be added to this set of draft goals, policies, and actions as they 

undergo review by County staff, the Sustainability Commission, the Planning Commission, the Board of 

Supervisors, and, of course, the affected communities.  

Updates to the Climate Action Plan and the Zoning Code will also reflect the General Plan’s commitment 

to environmental justice. 

  



 

September 23, 2020 | Page 6 

Format and Organization 

The Board of Supervisors has directed that four themes should be woven throughout the updated General 

Plan so that they are addressed comprehensively: environmental justice, sustainability, public health, and 

economic development. The draft policies are listed under the heading of the element in which we think 

they are most likely to be located.  

Note that the Housing Element will be prepared separately from the rest of the Elements in order to meet 

specific State deadlines and statutory requirements. However, SB 1000 requires the County to address 

safe and sanitary homes. The current Housing Element, adopted in 2014, already includes a number of 

policies and programs that address safe and sanitary homes. Any new housing-related policies and actions 

that are developed through this process will be shared with County housing staff to be incorporated into 

the Housing Element Update, which must be completed by January 2023.  

Currently, based on our experience in other communities, we anticipate denoting policies that focus on 

environmental justice with an icon and consolidating these policies in an appendix so they can all be 

reviewed in one place. This approach worked well for the City of Stockton’s recent General Plan.  

The attached draft goals, policies, and actions include only countywide guidance. The General Plan will 

also include a set of community profiles that contain policy guidance specific to each community. Each 

disadvantaged community, as well as many other communities in the County, will get its own community 

profile. The policy guidance in each community profile is tailored to the specific issues and needs of each 

community, as directed by community members through a series of meetings in each community held in 

2019 and 2020. In addition, the community profiles for the mapped disadvantaged communities contain 

important contextual information about the specific sources of pollution, health outcomes, and 

socioeconomic concerns that contribute to each community’s status as a disadvantaged community.  

To see the draft community profiles for five of the six mapped disadvantaged communities, please visit 

the following links. Note that these are still open to further change based on County staff feedback and 

ongoing dialog with community members. The Vine Hill/Mountain View profile is not yet drafted.  

◼ North Richmond Draft Community Profile 

◼ Montalvin Manor, Tara Hills, and Bayview Draft Community Profile 

◼ Rodeo Draft Community Profile 

◼ Crockett Draft Community Profile 

◼ Bay Point Draft Community Profile 

about:blank
https://envisioncontracosta2040.org/documents/#community-profiles
https://envisioncontracosta2040.org/documents/#community-profiles
https://envisioncontracosta2040.org/documents/#community-profiles
https://envisioncontracosta2040.org/documents/#community-profiles
https://envisioncontracosta2040.org/documents/#community-profiles
https://envisioncontracosta2040.org/documents/#community-profiles
https://envisioncontracosta2040.org/documents/#community-profiles
https://envisioncontracosta2040.org/documents/#community-profiles


 

September 23, 2020 | Page 7 

A Note on Wording 

In consultation with ECC2040 Project Manager Will Nelson, we are following these conventions for Goals, 

Policies, and Actions:  

◼ Goal: Describes the general desired result that the County seeks to create through the 
implementation of its General Plan. Goals are ambitious and inspirational. A Goal can be supported by 
any number of policies and/or actions.  

• Most of the goals in the existing General Plan seem to start with “To…” (i.e., the goal is “to” 
achieve X), but not all. To avoid the redundancy of beginning each goal with “To”, we will strike 
“to” and just start with what the County is trying to achieve, phrased as a noun. 

◼ Policy: Guides decision-making as the County works to achieve a goal. Such policies, once adopted, 
represent statements of County regulation. A policy is on-going and requires no further 
implementation. The General Plan’s policies set out the standards that will be used by County staff, 
the Planning Commission, and Board of Supervisors in their review of land development projects and 
in decision-making about County actions. Words like require, encourage, promote, allow, etc. indicate 
policies. A policy does not have to be mandatory.  

• Many of the existing policies are statements of things that “shall be” done. To reduce the number 
of words required, we will use an active voice. For example, Policy 3-1 would read “Support and 
stimulate housing infill…” instead of “Housing infill shall be supported and stimulated…” 

◼ Action: A measure, procedure, or technique intended to help to achieve a specified goal. The County 
must take additional steps to accomplish each action in the General Plan.  Words like complete, adopt, 
amend, prepare, publish, collaborate with, etc. indicate actions. An action is something concrete that 
can and will be completed and “checked off” (literally or metaphorically). There is not a 1:1 
correspondence between policies and actions. Some policies may not require actions to implement; 
some actions may implement more than one policy.  

• These are called “implementation measures” in the existing General Plan. Existing 
implementation measures use the active voice, and we will maintain that approach. 

 



 

September 23, 2020 | Page 8 

Environmental Justice Draft Policy Guidance 

The draft countywide environmental justice goals, policies, and actions are listed below. They were 
developed based on community input at community meetings and the in-person, virtual, and online 
collaborations on community health, sustainability, and environmental justice, as well as best practices 
and guidance from the State. This policy guidance would be incorporated into the elements of the General 
Plan as indicated by each heading.  

The policy guidance below is also organized by the following goals: 

• Goal EJ-A: Equitable distribution of social and economic advantages among all communities in the 
county so that no community is disproportionately burdened by environmental pollution or other 

hazards. 

• Goal EJ-B: Equitable and convenient access to fresh and healthy foods among all communities in the 

county so that all residents find it easy to make healthy food choices.  

• Goal EJ-C: Equitable access to safe and sanitary homes among all communities in the county so that 

no resident has to live in an unsafe or unhealthy place. 

• Goal EJ-D: Equitable access to job training, job opportunities, and economic stability among all 
communities in the county so that all residents can access safe jobs, earn a living wage to support 
their families, and build shared prosperity. 

• Goal EJ-E: Equitable engagement with all communities in the county so that all residents share an 

equal voice in decisions that affect their community.  

• Goal EJ-F: Equitable, convenient access to a safe, affordable, multi-modal transportation network 
among all communities in the county so that all residents, regardless of age, ability, race, culture, or 
economic status, are less dependent on cars and enjoy opportunities to walk, bike, roll, or take transit 

to their destinations.  

• Goal EJ-G: Equitable distribution and quality of public facilities, infrastructure, and services among all 
communities in the county so that the fundamental needs of all residents are met and all residents 

can access the services they need.  

• Goal EJ-H: Equitable and convenient access to health services among all communities in the county so 
that all residents can find the physical and behavioral health care services they need within their 
community.  

• Goal EJ-I: Equitable access to safe recreational activities and parks among all communities in the 

county so that all residents are empowered to choose an active lifestyle that supports their health.  

• Goal EJ-J: Equitable and healthy air quality among all communities in the county so that all residents, 
including those with high sensitivity to unhealthy air, can live in their community without facing 

disproportionately high risks of respiratory disease and other health problems.  

• Goal EJ-K: Communities that are safe and resilient from hazards associated with the use, transport, 
treatment, and disposal of hazardous waste and hazardous substances, including from fossil fuels, 
chemical refining, and power plants. 



 

September 23, 2020 | Page 9 

Land Use Element 

Goal EJ-A Equitable distribution of social and economic advantages among all communities in the 
county so that no community is disproportionately burdened by environmental pollution 
or other hazards. 

Policies 

Policy EJ-A.1 Incentivize and streamline public and private investment in new development or 
redevelopment that promotes community goals in disadvantaged communities, 
as identified in the community profiles. 

Policy EJ-A.2 For projects that would significantly impact a disadvantaged community, pursue 
community benefits agreements that achieve the community goals identified in 
the community profile. 

Policy EJ-A.3 Until fossil fuel industries are phased out, require any proposed project requiring 
a use permit for a fossil fuel industry or its accessory infrastructure that would 
impact a disadvantaged community to include early and substantial community 
engagement as part of the permitting process. As conditions of approval, such 
projects must include substantial community benefits that support the goals 
identified by the community in the community profile. 

Policy EJ-A.4 Phase out existing fossil fuel industries and transition to just, equitable, and clean 
industries that offer good-wage jobs.  

Policy EJ-A.5 In order for an application for a major development project to be deemed 
complete, require applicants to document to the County’s satisfaction how the 
project will promote environmental justice, including how the project will ensure 
the following: 

(a) Its costs and benefits will be shared equitably;  

(b) Its economic opportunities will be shared equitably;  

(c) It will not displace existing residents or businesses in disadvantaged 
communities; and 

(d) It will avoid direct, indirect, or unintended negative impacts on the quality of 
life of residents within disadvantaged communities. Source: EJ Assessment 
tool developed by Sustainability Commission 

Policy EJ-A.6 Prioritize clean-up of illegal dumping in disadvantaged communities. 

Actions 

Action EJ-A.1 In coordination with impacted communities, workers, and business/industry, 
develop and implement a plan to phase out fossil fuel industries and transition to 
just, equitable, and clean industries that offer good-wage jobs. The plan should 
address site remediation responsibility and strategies to improve the health, 
safety, infrastructure, job opportunities, and revenue opportunities during the 
shift to a zero emission economy, paying special attention to helping develop new 
opportunities for how disadvantaged communities will realize economic, health, 
and other benefits.  



 

September 23, 2020 | Page 10 

Action EJ-A.2 Develop criteria for evaluating projects that would potentially impact a 
disadvantaged community. For projects that would adversely impact a 
disadvantaged community, establish required project approval findings to ensure 
that community benefit agreements or other mitigation efforts would achieve the 
community goals identified in the community profile. As part of this work, define 
what constitutes a major development project in or adjacent to a disadvantaged 
community; as indicated in other policies and actions in this General Plan, such 
projects may be subject to additional requirements compared to projects that 
don’t meet that definition.  

Action EJ-A.3 Develop a checklist that establishes criteria to evaluate how new development 
supports the County’s environmental justice and health goals and the 
environmental justice and health-related community goals identified in the 
relevant community profile. 

Action EJ-A.4 Upon each review of the General Plan [will cross reference a Land Use Element 
action related to regular reviews of the General Plan], work with the Contra Costa 
County Health Services Department to monitor health outcomes data for 
disadvantaged communities in order to determine the effectiveness of the 
County’s environmental justice policies. During this review, assess any updated 
information related to the delineation of disadvantaged communities in Contra 
Costa County. Based on these reviews, update the map of disadvantaged 
communities and environmental justice-related goals, policies, and actions 
accordingly. 

Action EJ-A.5 Explore the feasibility of creating, participating in, or attracting a public bank.  

Action EJ-A.6 Develop and sufficiently fund a program to assist project applicants in 
disadvantaged communities in navigating the project application and review 
process. 

Action EJ-A.7 Improve code enforcement and public works maintenance practices to keep 
disadvantaged communities hazard free, safe, and clean, emphasizing 
enforcement actions on issues identified by the community in its community 
profile. 

Goal EJ-B Equitable and convenient access to fresh and healthy foods among all communities in the 
county so that all residents find it easy to make healthy food choices.  

Policies 

Policy EJ-B.1 Increase access to fresh food in disadvantaged communities by allowing and 
encouraging local food production, micro agriculture, edible landscapes, rooftop 
gardens, community gardens, urban farms, and farmers’ markets on vacant or 
underutilized lands, including publicly-owned land, and by distributing 
information about community-supported agriculture programs that provide 
affordable access to fresh food.  

Policy EJ-B.2 Require new or substantially renovated County facilities that interface with the 
public and that are located in disadvantaged communities to incorporate facilities 
and amenities that improve the public’s access to healthy food options. 



 

September 23, 2020 | Page 11 

Policy EJ-B.3 Maximize multimodal access to fresh food by encouraging grocery stores, healthy 
corner stores, and outdoor markets at key transit nodes and within transit-
oriented developments.  

Policy EJ-B.4 Provide access to public land, cleanup, and other County services for farmers’ 
markets in disadvantaged communities. 

Policy EJ-B.5 Encourage farmers and neighborhood community gardens to participate in local 
farmers’ markets. 

Actions 

Action EJ-B.1 Prepare a healthy food ordinance that creates incentives and guidelines that 
support access to healthy food through land use controls, such as streamlined 
permitting of grocery stores. When developing this ordinance, work with Contra 
Costa County Health Services to collect geographic data about current health 
conditions.  

Action EJ-B.2 Implement a County Nutrition Action Plan (CNAP) to promote the 2010 Dietary 
Guidelines, federal and State food security programs, and physical activity. 

Action EJ-B.3 Develop guidelines to support implementation of micro agriculture, rooftop 
gardens, community gardens, urban farms, and farmers’ markets, including 
seeking input from local residents on convenient and accessible locations. 

Action EJ-B.4 Educate local farmers about opportunities for participation in local farmers’ 

markets to bring locally grown food to disadvantaged communities. In addition, 

encourage farmers’ markets to reduce vendor restrictions or entry fees for local 

farmers to incentivize local participation. 

Action EJ-B.5 Conduct nutrition workshops, health events and social marketing for low income 
residents to promote healthy eating and active living. (from 
https://cchealth.org/nutrition/) 

Action EJ-B.6 Coordinate school and after-school programs as well as peer to peer education to 
empower families and youth to choose healthy foods, drink water instead of 
sweetened drinks and live an active life. This could include educational field trips 
to local farms, community gardens, and outdoor recreation areas. (from 
https://cchealth.org/nutrition/) 

Action EJ-B.7 Participate in local coalitions and subcontract with community partners to 
collaborate with government agencies, child care centers, faith-based 
organizations, community leaders, food retailers, other businesses and schools to 
support programs and policies that mitigate child obesity and improve access and 
intake of healthy foods and physical activity. (from 
https://cchealth.org/nutrition/) 

Action EJ-B.8 Encourage worksite wellness through access to healthier food choices in vending 
machines and promotion of physical activity. (from 
https://cchealth.org/nutrition/) 

Action EJ-B.9 Collect data for grant funding, program planning and evaluation of interventions 
to improve access and consumption of healthy food and physical activity. (from 
https://cchealth.org/nutrition/) 

about:blank
about:blank
about:blank
about:blank
about:blank


 

September 23, 2020 | Page 12 

Action EJ-B.10 Every five years, review the existing Alcoholic Beverage Sales Commercial 
Activities Ordinance to ensure disadvantaged communities are not experiencing 
disproportionate concentrations of or impacts from new bars and liquor stores. 
To support implementation of this ordinance, set up and maintain a shared data 
system between the Health Services and Conservation and Development 
departments that identifies the locations of current establishments, along with 
information about public safety and public health. 

Goal EJ-C Equitable access to safe and sanitary homes among all communities in the county so that 
no resident has to live in an unsafe or unhealthy place.  

Policies 

Policy EJ-C.1 Ensure that future improvements in disadvantaged communities will not produce 
a net loss of affordable housing or the displacement of residents.  

Policy EJ-C.2 Ensure adequate living conditions for tenants through ongoing and effective code 
enforcement, with priority given to rental properties in disadvantaged 
communities.  

Policy EJ-C.3 Coordinate with the Housing Authority of Contra Costa County, affordable housing 
developers, and other organizations to transition vacant, unentitled land in 
disadvantaged communities into affordable housing, which could include many 
types of innovative housing products. This should include homeownership 
opportunities to help residents build intergenerational wealth.   

Actions 

Action EJ-C.1 Develop and implement a rent control and just cause for eviction ordinance to 
strengthen the protections provided by AB 1482 and provide accessible resources 
for fair tenant protections in disadvantaged communities. 

Action EJ-C.2 Conduct periodic outreach in disadvantaged communities to inform tenants of 
their rights and responsibilities. Written outreach efforts should be translated 
into appropriate languages. 

Action EJ-C.3 Update the County Health and Safety Code to establish a framework for the 
County to protect residents’ access to secure housing through eviction 
moratoriums or other mechanisms when the County and/or State declare states 
of emergency due to natural or human-made disasters, including epidemics and 
pandemics.  

Action EJ-C.4 Obtain funding for, address barriers to, and increase participation in the County’s 

weatherization program for extremely low, very low, and low-income 

homeowners, landlords, and renters, as well as in other programs like the Green 

and Healthy Homes Initiative, to provide resources to bring older properties up to 

Code and improve their livability, make minor home repairs and energy 

improvements, and improve health and quality of life. Focus these resources on 

homes in disadvantaged communities, and in particular rental housing and high-

density housing. 



 

September 23, 2020 | Page 13 

Action EJ-C.5 Create a bulk buying program that allows people to purchase air conditioners, air 

purifiers, heaters, and other electric appliances at wholesale prices to increase 

energy efficiency and replace hazardous appliances. Work with volunteer groups 

to help people install air conditioners and other electrical appliances if they are 

unable to do so themselves, focusing on disadvantaged communities and other 

areas with high levels of vulnerable people. Consider augmenting energy 

efficiency programs to reduce electricity use and help offset the cost of operating 

electrical appliances.  

Action EJ-C.6 Partner with a local solar company to enact a solar group buy program to 

purchase solar panels and battery storage in bulk for installation in disadvantaged 

communities, including the establishment and subsidization 

of community solar programs for joint membership, which aggregate multiple 

consumers' electricity sourced from a single photo-voltaic solar location. The 

program should include an educational component to teach the community 

about the benefits and process of solar installation and give them the 

opportunity to sign up for the program at a discounted rate.   

Action EJ-C.7 In collaboration with nonprofit and for-profit developers, obtain funding for and 
establish community land trusts serving each disadvantaged community that will 
support long-term community ownership and housing affordability.  

Action EJ-C.8 Expand the County’s first-time homebuyer program to provide more education 
and assistance, prioritizing outreach and marketing in disadvantaged 
communities to spread awareness of the program.  

Action EJ-C.9 In coordination with Contra Costa Health Services, create an inventory of available 
land for tiny homes or other types of innovative housing products as alternatives 
to accommodate people who lack housing. 

Action EJ-C.10 Collaborate with Contra Costa Health Services and the Contra Costa Council on 
Homelessness to develop and implement a plan to provide transition facilities 
and services for people facing homelessness. Link homeless programs with 
supportive services such as behavioral health, substance abuse, and primary 
health care.  

Action EJ-C.11 Conduct periodic outreach to absentee owners of properties in disadvantaged 
communities to inform owners of their legal obligations to maintain rental 
properties in safe and habitable condition. Keep tenants informed of these 
efforts, including by translating the information into languages other than 
English. 

Action EJ-C.12 Continue to support the Contra Costa Lead Poisoning Prevention Project’s 
programs, including services for children, public health nurse case management, 
home environmental investigation, education and outreach, and information and 
referrals for parents, home remodelers and child care providers. (from 
https://cchealth.org/lead-poison/) 

  

about:blank


 

September 23, 2020 | Page 14 

Goal EJ-D Equitable access to job training, job opportunities, and economic stability among all 
communities in the county so that all residents can access safe jobs, earn a living wage to 
support their families, and build shared prosperity. 

Policies 

Policy EJ-D.1 Actively work across County departments and agencies to attract businesses that 
provide desired goods and services in disadvantaged communities, including food 
stores with fresh produce, health care, childcare, pharmacies, and other retailers. 
Balance community desires with comprehensive assessments of market demand 
to guide business attraction efforts. 

Policy EJ-D.2 Actively work across County departments and agencies to attract manufacturing 
businesses in the clean technology sector, especially those that will not increase 
emissions in or near disadvantaged communities.  

Policy EJ-D.3 Promote entrepreneurship and locally owned businesses and enterprises in 
disadvantaged communities to support economic self-sufficiency and stability, 
including through training and outreach to local small business owners.   

Actions 

Action EJ-D.1 Explore the feasibility of establishing a First Source Hiring Program requiring 
project applicants to make best efforts to hire new employees, workers, and 
subcontractor components of the project from the local area.  

Action EJ-D.2 Partner with community organizations, large employers, trade associations, 
unions, and job training skills centers to support enhanced job-skills training, 
recruitment programs and services, and childcare services to support workers in 
disadvantaged communities. Work with experienced groups to ensure that 
programs will be properly staffed and funded. Training and intervention strategies 
should reduce barriers to employment for youth, formerly incarcerated residents, 
and residents with limited English proficiency, and they should support a just 
transition toward a sustainable economy by re-training fossil fuel-based workers 
with skills for green industrial jobs.  

Action EJ-D.3 Explore strategies to establish a revolving loan fund or other economic 
development initiatives to support small businesses in disadvantaged 
communities.   

Goal EJ-E Equitable engagement with all communities in the county so that all residents share an 
equal voice in decisions that affect their community.  

Policies 

Policy EJ-E.1 Notify the community through the County website and coordination with 
community organizations and leaders when County planning decisions are being 
considered in or adjacent to disadvantaged communities. Conduct outreach and 
engagement with disadvantaged communities as follows: 



 

September 23, 2020 | Page 15 

▪ Prepare public notices and other materials in the predominant language(s) 

spoken in the community and provide interpretation services at meetings as 

needed.  

▪ Make public notices and other important documents available in print at local 

libraries, community centers, or other gathering places. 

▪ Use approaches appropriate for the community. 

▪ Schedule, format, and locate community workshops and meetings to be 

convenient for community members and provide childcare. 

▪ Use social media, virtual meeting platforms, and other communication 

techniques for those without time or ability to attend public meetings. 

▪ Consider data that reflects the economic, gender, age, and racial diversity of 

the affected population. [Source: EJ Assessment tool from Sustainability 

Commission] 

▪ Clearly explain potential adverse impacts of a proposed project in plain 

language that is easily understood by the target community. 

Policy EJ-E.2 Support community-driven or community-led initiatives in disadvantaged 
communities that work toward the goals identified in the community profiles. 
Support could include technical assistance and providing staff resources and 
meeting spaces, among other methods. 

Actions 

Action EJ-E.1 In coordination with leaders and stakeholders from disadvantaged communities, 
prepare a community engagement toolkit that identifies outreach and 
engagement activities based on the project type and stakeholders involved in 
order to build community participation and ensure all voices are represented. 

Action EJ-E.2 Establish an ongoing environmental justice advisory group comprised of 
community members from disadvantaged communities to advise and assist the 
County in addressing disproportionate health, safety, and welfare in 
disadvantaged communities.  

Action EJ-E.3 Identify, initiate, and formalize partnerships with community organizations and 
leaders in disadvantaged communities to ensure that local residents can make 
significant contributions to planning processes. 

Action EJ-E.4 Partner with the County Administrator's Office and appropriate departments to 
identify communities with a significant number of non-English speaking 
households, and develop resources and strategies to better engage them. 

Action EJ-E.5 As part of the General Plan annual progress report to the Board of Supervisors, 
describe the County’s efforts to meet the needs of each disadvantaged 
community. The report should specifically summarize the extent to which the 
County has implemented the policies and actions identified in each 
disadvantaged community profile.  



 

September 23, 2020 | Page 16 

Action EJ-E.6 Hold at least one public meeting per year in each disadvantaged community, 
including representatives from the full spectrum of County Departments, to hear 
from residents of these communities, and use that input to inform the County’s 
annual budgeting process. Provide translation and childcare services at these 
meetings.  

Action EJ-E.7 Support community events, such as block parties and community service days, 
that support social connections, neighborhood identity, and behavioral health. 

Action EJ-E.8 Partner with community organizations and franchise garbage haulers to optimize 
community clean-up days in disadvantaged communities, including by focusing 
clean-up activities in disadvantaged communities over other communities that 
are part of the same contract.  

Transportation and Circulation Element 

Goal EJ-F Equitable, convenient access to a safe, affordable, multi-modal transportation network 
among all communities in the county so that all residents, regardless of age, ability, race, 
culture, or economic status, are less dependent on cars and enjoy opportunities to walk, 
bike, roll, or take transit to their destinations.  

Policies 

Policy EJ-F.1 Support improvements to transit, bikeways, and sidewalks in disadvantaged 
communities to make active transportation more accessible and user-friendly 
while decreasing vehicle speeds, congestion, and air pollution. Prioritize 
infrastructure projects identified in disadvantaged community profiles. 

Policy EJ-F.2 Prioritize energy-efficient street lighting programs in disadvantaged communities, 
particularly at parks and transit stops, along commercial corridors, near high 
density housing, and in high crime neighborhoods.  

Policy EJ-F.3 Prioritize transit shelters and benches or other seating at transit stops in 
disadvantaged communities, especially along commercial corridors and near high 
density housing. 

Policy EJ-F.4 Support local transit providers in establishing and maintaining routes and services 
that provide disadvantaged communities with convenient access to employment 
centers, shopping, healthy food outlets, and services. Support extended hours to 
serve shift workers. 

Policy EJ-F.5 Support development of small-scale neighborhood nodes that provide a range of 

neighborhood-serving retail, public amenities, and services to residents of 

disadvantaged communities within walking distance of their homes.  

Policy EJ-F.6 Work with school districts and neighborhood groups to ensure that safe walking, 

bicycling, and transit routes to school exist, prioritizing the development and 

maintenance of sidewalks, crosswalks, street lighting, bicycling infrastructure, 

transit stop amenities, automotive speed controls, and other safety 

improvements in disadvantaged communities, including in residential areas and 

near schools, libraries, and recreational facilities. 



 

September 23, 2020 | Page 17 

Actions 

Action EJ-F.1 Engage in community-based transportation plans or other initiatives by transit 
providers that seek to expand the hours of operation, operational boundaries, 
convenience, and quality of accessible transit services to improve mobility for 
seniors, people with disabilities, and other vulnerable communities. 

Action EJ-F.2 Develop a program to subsidize transit passes for residents of disadvantaged 
communities.  

Action EJ-F.3 Create and promote a program to facilitate partial and/or temporary street 
closures for amenities such as parklets and community events such as farmers’ 
markets, block parties, or bicycle and pedestrian events, if requested by 
residents. Support community members by providing timely feedback and 
processing permits. 

Action EJ-F.4 Develop a program to establish, maintain, and enforce truck routes in the 
unincorporated county. This program should establish criteria for designating 
truck routes, signage, and enforcement mechanisms. 

Action EJ-F.5 Partner with adjacent jurisdictions and regional transportation planning 
committees to manage regional movement of goods in unincorporated areas to 
encourage truckers to remain on freeways and regional routes while minimizing 
impacts on residents and other sensitive receptors in disadvantaged 
communities. Seek creative options to deter trucks from residential streets is 
disadvantaged communities, acknowledging that California Highway Patrol may 
not have the resources to provide enforcement of truck routes. 

Housing Element 

As noted in the introduction above, the Housing Element will be updated through a separate and parallel 

process. Any relevant policies developed to address safe and sanitary homes or other topics will be folded 

into the Housing Element through that process.  

Relevant policies in the current adopted Housing Element include:  

GOAL 1 Maintain and improve the quality of the existing housing stock and residential neighborhoods in 

Contra Costa County. 

Policy 1.1 Assist low-income homeowners in maintaining and improving residential properties 

through housing rehabilitation and energy efficiency assistance programs. 

Policy 1.2 Focus rehabilitation assistance and code enforcement efforts in communities with a 

high concentration of older and/or substandard residential structures. 

Policy 1.3 Assist affordable housing providers in the acquisition and rehabilitation of older 

residential structures, and maintain them as long-term affordable housing. 

Policy 1.4 Promote increased awareness among property owners and residents of the importance 

of property maintenance to neighborhood quality. 



 

September 23, 2020 | Page 18 

GOAL 8 Promote equal opportunity for all residents to reside in the housing of their choice. 

Policy 8.1 Prohibit discrimination in the sale or rental of housing to anyone on the basis of race, 

color, ancestry, national origin, religion, disability, sex, sexual orientation, familial status, marital 

status or other such arbitrary factors. 

Policy 8.2 Provide financial support to non-profit organizations providing fair housing services. 

Policy 8.3 Enhance the opportunity for seniors, persons with disabilities, large households, single 

parents, persons with HIV/AIDS, persons with mental illness, and farmworkers to have access to 

housing of their choice. 

Housing Programs:  

Rehabilitation Loans:  Disseminate information on housing rehabilitation assistance through the 

County website, public access cable channels, notices in the press, presentations and distribution 

of brochures to public service agencies and community groups, and mailings to County residents. 

Code Enforcement: Continue to carry out code enforcement activities (rental inspection program) 

as a means to maintain the quality of the housing stock and residential neighborhoods. 

Acquisition/Rehabilitation: Disseminate information on housing rehabilitation assistance on the 

Department webpage, presentations and distribution of brochures to apartment owners and 

property management associations. 

First-Time Homebuyer Opportunities: Continue to expand homeownership opportunities through 

a combination of homebuyer assistance programs, financial support of new construction, and 

development agreements. 

Residential Sites Inventory: Maintain an up-to-date inventory of vacant/underutilized residential 

sites as funding permits and make inventory available to potential developers (both for profit and 

non-profit developers) 

Public Facilities and Services Element 

Goal EJ-G Equitable distribution and quality of public facilities, infrastructure, and services among all 
communities in the county so that the fundamental needs of all residents are met and all 
residents can access the services they need.  

Policies 

Policy EJ-G.1 Systematically prioritize investments in public facilities, infrastructure, and 
services that benefit disadvantaged communities and respond to the needs 
identified in the community profiles. 

  



 

September 23, 2020 | Page 19 

Policy EJ-G.2 Assist disadvantaged communities in establishing funding and financing 
mechanisms – both community-generated mechanisms like building 
improvement districts and County-initiated mechanisms like landscape and 
lighting improvement districts – to provide community-desired public facilities 
and services. 

Policy EJ-G.3 Coordinate with the planning efforts of various service providers (e.g., water, 

sewer, and recreation districts) to ensure efficient and effective service delivery in 

disadvantaged communities.  

Actions 

Action EJ-G.1 Review needs and services in each disadvantaged community as part of the 
annual budgeting process.  

Action EJ-G.2 Identify, secure funding for, and implement green infrastructure projects in 
disadvantaged communities that support the community goals identified in the 
community profiles. 

Action EJ-G.3 Explore options for the County to provide seed grants, micro loans, or similar 
funding to community-based organizations or public-private partners to support 
green infrastructure or other related improvements in disadvantaged 
communities.  

Action EJ-G.4 Compile, maintain, and make easily available a list of numbers to call for basic 
needs such as code enforcement, housing assistance, food assistance, and 
healthcare. Provide this information in multiple languages.  

Action EJ-G.5 Establish a task force of County department heads or their immediate deputies 
and other stakeholders (e.g., cities, local environmental justice organizations, and 
other service providers) to coordinate efforts, provide oversight, and otherwise 
ensure that public services and facilities in disadvantaged communities are 
prioritized and efficiently and effectively delivered. 

Action EJ-G.6 Encourage internet providers to improve access to reliable, fast internet access in 
disadvantaged communities at affordable prices.  

Goal EJ-H Equitable and convenient access to health services among all communities in the county 
so that all residents can find the physical and behavioral health care services they need 
within their community.  

Policies 

Policy EJ-H.1 Work with Contra Costa Health Services and community-based organizations to 
expand community health-related outreach, analysis, and implementation efforts 
in disadvantaged communities.  

Policy EJ-H.2 Collaborate with non-profit partners and Contra Costa Health Services to attract 
medical clinics, behavioral health facilities, and pharmacies in areas that lack 
access to health care, prioritizing disadvantaged communities.  



 

September 23, 2020 | Page 20 

Actions 

Action EJ-H.1 Minimize zoning requirements for medical facilities to reduce barriers to 
development. 

Goal EJ-I Equitable access to safe recreational activities and parks among all communities in the 
county so that all residents are empowered to choose an active lifestyle that supports 
their health.  

Policies 

Policy EJ-I.1 Assist with coordination to support joint use recreation facilities serving 
disadvantaged communities. 

Policy EJ-I.2 Increase access to diverse, high-quality parks, green space, recreational facilities, 
and natural environments for disadvantaged communities. Design and maintain 
these facilities to offer a safe and comfortable environment for residents of all 
ages and abilities.  

Policy EJ-I.3 Rather than allowing in-lieu fees, require major new development projects in 
disadvantaged communities to improve existing park and recreation amenities 
within the community and/or to add new amenities within the project, ideally 
open to the public. In-lieu fees may only be used when amenity improvements or 
new amenities are not feasible, as determined by the County. 

Policy EJ-I.4 Require new or substantially renovated County recreational facilities located in 
disadvantaged communities to incorporate facilities, amenities, and public spaces 
that create opportunities for physical activity and social interaction. 

Policy EJ-I.5 Increase recreation opportunities in disadvantaged communities by working with 
other agencies to convert public easements, such as utility corridors or unused 
rights-of-way, into parks and trails. 

Policy EJ-I.6 Support local community groups and volunteer organizations in efforts to 
improve or maintain local parks, trails, and other public spaces, especially in 
disadvantaged communities. 

Actions 

Action EJ-I.1 Coordinate with park districts to prepare a parks and open space needs 
assessment for each disadvantaged community. Based on the results of the 
assessment for each community, implement improvements that address barriers 
to outdoor physical activity, such as inadequate infrastructure and safety 
concerns.  

Action EJ-I.2 Work with recreation and school districts to identify indoor recreational and 
athletic facilities to serve as emergency housing and cooling centers in 
disadvantaged communities for natural hazards or extreme heat events. In 
addition, work with these districts to prepare a list of priority improvements at 
these facilities to implement in preparation for emergency events.  



 

September 23, 2020 | Page 21 

Conservation Element 

Goal EJ-J Equitable and healthy air quality among all communities in the county so that all 
residents, including those with high sensitivity to unhealthy air, can live in their 
community without facing disproportionately high risks of respiratory disease and other 
health problems.  

Policies  

Policy EJ-J.1 Require a cumulative health risk assessment, including consideration of truck 
traffic impacts, when a project potentially affects sensitive receptors in 
disadvantaged communities, and require appropriate mitigation based on the 
findings of the assessment. 

Policy EJ-J.2 When evaluating health risk impacts of projects in disadvantaged communities, 
use a cancer risk of 1.0 per million as the threshold for a significant impact. 

Policy EJ-J.3 Require new development to site sensitive receptors such as homes, schools, 
playgrounds, sports fields, childcare centers, senior centers, and long-term health 
care facilities as far away as possible from significant pollution sources. 

Policy EJ-J.4 When evaluating air quality impacts of projects in disadvantaged communities, 
use thresholds of significance that match or are more stringent than the air 
quality thresholds of significance identified in the current Bay Area Air Quality 
Management District (BAAQMD) Air Quality Guidelines. 

Policy EJ-J.5 Consider future General Plan and/or Zoning Code amendments as needed to 
support BAAQMD in meeting AB 617 objectives to reduce the health impacts of 
air pollution in Communities of Concern.  

Policy EJ-J.6 Prioritize new street tree plantings and increase the tree canopy in disadvantaged 
communities, in particular areas with a high heat index.  

Policy EJ-J.7 Preserve, restore, and enhance natural landscapes in and near disadvantaged 
communities for their role in improving air quality and community health.  

Policy EJ-J.8 Require warehouse and distribution facilities to provide adequate on-site truck 
parking to prevent idling, and require refrigerated warehouses to provide 
generators for refrigerated trucks. 

Policy EJ-J.9 Prohibit fossil fuel powered truck, construction vehicle, and transit vehicle idling 
within 100 feet of sensitive receptors such as homes, schools, playgrounds, sports 
fields, childcare centers, senior centers, and long-term health care facilities.  

Actions 

Action EJ-J.1 Coordinate with State and regional regulatory entities and community members 
to fund citizen-led data collection, monitor pollution exposure, and identify and 
implement solutions in disadvantaged communities.  

Action EJ-J.2 Assist BAAQMD in establishing and implementing Community Air Monitoring 
Plans for disadvantaged communities.  

Action EJ-J.3 Coordinate with BAAQMD to create a targeted permit inspection program in 
disadvantaged communities to help ensure enforcement of air quality permits.  



 

September 23, 2020 | Page 22 

Action EJ-J.4 Enforce the State’s five-minute maximum idling law.  

Action EJ-J.5 Prepare an urban forest master plan for the county that includes quantified goals 
and tracking methods, prioritizing disadvantaged communities. 

Action EJ-J.6 Develop and implement a plan to provide clean air refuges during times when 
outdoor air quality is unhealthy.  

Safety Element 

Goal EJ-K Communities that are safe and resilient from hazards associated with the use, transport, 
treatment, and disposal of hazardous waste and hazardous substances, including from 
fossil fuels, chemical refining, and power plants. 

Policies 

Policy EJ-K.1 Discourage construction of new large-scale hazardous waste facilities. 

Policy EJ-K.2 Advocate for and coordinate with local and regional agencies in efforts to 
remediate or treat contaminated surface water, groundwater, or soils in or 
affecting disadvantaged communities.  

Actions 

Action EJ-K.1 Obtain grant funding and establish partnerships with local environmental justice 
organizations to implement the County’s Brownfields and Contaminated Sites 
Cleanup Policy in disadvantaged communities. 

Action EJ-K.2 Establish a comprehensive, long term strategy that coordinates efforts from all 
regulatory agencies to mitigate impacts from industrial facilities on adjacent 
communities, both acute and long-term, with priority given to developing 
strategies for disadvantaged communities. The strategies must include specific 
mitigations to address air pollution, pipeline risks, and accidents, including 
identification of and community education about evacuation routes. 

 



Sustainability Committee
9/29/2020



2

Four Themes Throughout the General Plan

» Environmental justice 
» Sustainability 
» Community health 
» Economic development 



3

SB 1000 Topic Examples of County Role
Pollution exposure and 
air quality

Environmental Health Department 
Hazardous Materials Program

Public facilities

Health Centers 
Fire Stations 
Flood Control
Libraries

Food access
Women, Infants and Children (WIC) 
Senior Nutrition Program 
Food Safety 

Unsafe or unsanitary 
homes

Childhood Lead Poisoning Prevention Program
Weatherization Program 

Physical activity
Sidewalks and bikeways 
Parks and rec centers 



4

Draft “Disadvantaged” Communities



5

Community Profiles 

https://envisioncontracosta2040.org/documents/#community-profiles

https://envisioncontracosta2040.org/documents/


6

Outreach to Date
» 19 meetings in “disadvantaged” communities
» 2 countywide collaborations on Environmental Justice, 

Sustainability, and Health 
» 4 Climate Action Plan workshops 
» 3 countywide open house events for Envision Contra 

Costa 2040 
» Sustainability Commission meeting on August 24, 2020
» Online open house at: 

http://envisioncontracosta2040.org/online-
engagement/

http://envisioncontracosta2040.org/online-engagement/


7

Sustainability Commission Input 
» Reconsider whether to allow some level of impact to 

disadvantaged communities (DACs) in exchange for 
community benefits

» Add detail about the just transition plan
» Increase job training centers/opportunities in DACs
» Use indoor recreational facilities as emergency shelters, 

cooling centers, and clean air centers
» Enhance natural landscapes in DACs to support public 

health
» Investigate providing subsidized transit passes



8

Priority Discussion Items  
» Goal EJ-G (equitable public facilities and services)

• Prioritize expenditures on DACs (Policy G.1)
• Annual budgeting process (Action G.1)

» Goal EJ-A (equitable social and economic advantages)
• Allow impacts to DACs if community benefits (Policies A.2 & A.3, 

Action A.2)
• Phase out fossil fuel industries (Policy A.4, Action A.1)

» Goal EJ-D (equitable jobs and economic stability)
• First source hiring program (Action D.1)
• Support job training/workers (Action D.2)



9

Additional Discussion Items  
» Goal EJ-A (equitable social and economic advantages)

• Feasibility of public bank (Action A.5)

» Goal EJ-C (safe and sanitary homes)
• No net loss of affordable housing (Policy C.1)
• Rent control and just cause for eviction ordinance (Action C.1)



10

Process
» Review by Sustainability Commission
» Review by Sustainability Committee 
» Additional outreach to disadvantaged communities
» Planning Commission review
» Board of Supervisors review
» Ongoing public review and comment until final adoption 



Sustainability Committee
9/29/2020



SUSTAINABILITY COMMITTEE
Meeting Date: 09/29/2020  

Subject: RECEIVE REPORT from Sustainability Commission Chair.
Submitted For: Jody London, Sustainability Coordinator 
Department: Conservation & Development
Referral No.: N/A  

Referral Name: N/A 
Presenter: Chair or designate Contact: Jody London (925)674-7871

Referral History:
This is a standing item of the Commission.

Referral Update:
The Sustainability Commission Chair provides an update at each meeting of the Sustainability
Committee on the work of the Commission.

At its August meeting the Sustainability Commission adopted the attached environmental justice
assessment tool and recommends its use in updating the County's General Plan.

Recommendation(s)/Next Step(s):
RECEIVE report from Sustainability Commission Chair.

Fiscal Impact (if any):
None.

Attachments
No file(s) attached.



SUSTAINABILITY COMMITTEE
Meeting Date: 09/29/2020  

Subject: RECEIVE REPORT from Sustainability Coordinator.
Submitted For: Jody London, Sustainability Coordinator 
Department: Conservation & Development
Referral No.: N/A  

Referral Name: N/A 
Presenter: Jody London, Sustainability

Coordinator
Contact: Jody London (925)674-7871

Referral History:
The Sustainabilty Committee has requested an update at each meeting on sustainability work by
County staff.

Referral Update:
Key activities since the Committee’s last meeting on July 27, 2020 are listed below. 

The Board of Supervisors unanimously approved the climate emergency resolution on
September 22. Staff is beginning to chart implementation of the many actions directed in the
resolution.
Sustainability staff have been supporting the General Plan team in developing the draft
environmental justice policies for the General Plan. Staff also have been helping facilitate
General Plan meetings in communities in unincorporated areas of the County.
Sustainability staff submitted a proposal to the California Department of Conservation for a
planning grant to develop a carbon sequestration feasibility study for Contra Costa County.
The County is partnering with the Contra Costa Resource Conservation District and the
University of California Cooperative Extension to develop the feasbility study (if the grant is
awarded). 
Staff completed the County’s contract for the next three years with the Bay Area Regional
Energy Network (BayREN), in which Contra Costa County plays a leadership role.
BayREN will be hosting multiple homeowner energy efficiency Zoom workshops
throughout the next several months. The first workshop occurred on August 18th with over
115 registrations. 
Contra Costa Health Services was awarded a $527,558 grant for a three-year period from the
California Department of Health Care Services through the Sierra Health Foundation for the
Contra Costa Health Plan and the Department of Conservation and Development to provide
asthma preventative services in conjunction with energy efficiency measures to Health Plan
members with severe asthma. MCE and the Association for Energy Affordability are also
partners in this grant. Contra Costa Health Services also recently received a one year
$100,000 grant from the Bay Area Air Quality Management District to augment the



$100,000 grant from the Bay Area Air Quality Management District to augment the
mitigations provided by this project with Greenhouse gas reduction and indoor air quality
improvement measures
Public Works energy staff are overseeing the installation of rooftop solar at 10 County
facilities. Three of those sites will include battery storage.
The fluorescent to LED lighting retrofit at 30 Douglas, the County’s information technology
headquarters, is nearing completion on-time and within budget.
Sustainability staff are assisting Supervisor John Gioia in planning Clean Air Day in the Bay
Area, which will occur on October 7, 2020. See https://www.cleanairday.org/.
Hosted an online meeting of the Sustainability Exchange on September 24 for local
government staff in Contra Costa County. Close to 40 people participated and learned about
strategies for effective visual communication.
Continued to administer the Cleaner Contra Costa Challenge.
Participated in professional learning opportunities regarding environmental justice, carbon
sequestration, communication and facilitation strategies, race and equity, and related.
Collaborated with County staff working on topics including land use and transportation,
hazardous materials, green business program, the County’s state and federal legislative
platforms, economic development, health, codes, solid waste, energy, and related.
Participated in regional activities.

Recommendation(s)/Next Step(s):
RECEIVE REPORT from County Sustainability Coordinator.

Fiscal Impact (if any):
None.

Attachments
No file(s) attached.

https://www.cleanairday.org/

	Agenda
	APPROVE Record of Action from the July 27, 2020, meeting of the Sustainability Committee.
	ATT_07-27-20 Sustainability Mtg Minutes
	RECEIVE update and PROVIDE DIRECTION on draft environmental justice policies for County General Plan. 
	ATT_Draft Environmental Justice Policies for General Plan Update
	ATT_Presentation re Draft Environmental Justice Policies for General Plan Update
	Slide Number 1
	Four Themes Throughout the General Plan
	Slide Number 3
	Draft “Disadvantaged” Communities
	Community Profiles 
	Outreach to Date
	Sustainability Commission Input 
	Priority Discussion Items  
	Additional Discussion Items  
	Process
	Slide Number 11

	RECEIVE REPORT from Sustainability Commission Chair.
	RECEIVE REPORT from Sustainability Coordinator.

